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The Balfour Declaration and the onset of British rule in Eretz Israel were milestones and important inflection points in the attitude of the community and, foremost, of its leaders toward Zionism and Eretz Israel. More and more Zionist organisations and associations began to take shape in Britain, whetting interest in establishing the national home and amplifying the wish to get involved, be active, and contribute to the cause. In Eretz Israel, the imprints of the new era were quickly discerned. In April 1918, Weizmann visited Eretz Israel accompanied by a dignified retinue (known as the Zionist Commission) of Jewish personalities from Diaspora communities, including a respectable number of representatives from Britain, to lay the foundations for cooperation with the new government in Eretz Israel. It was in the course of this visit that the ceremonial cornerstone of the Hebrew University on Mount Scopus in Jerusalem was laid in a highly impressive and well-attended event on JNF land.
The footsteps of the new era, accompanied by the sense of euphoria of national rebirth, signalled to the JNF that opportunities for massive land purchases would soon open up and that, given the new reality, it was time for the organisation’s fundraising in the Diaspora to shift gears. No longer should the JNF rely mainly on the coin-by-coin method and place its focus on sporadic settlement projects; instead, it should start ‘thinking big’—pushing practical work to the front of the stage.
As London became the centre of Zionist Movement administration, attracting Zionist functionaries from all parts of the Diaspora, the movement proclaimed the establishment of a Preparation Fund as an ad hoc mechanism that would receive £200,000 in urgent donations for use in revitalizing the ruins of the Yishuv after the war. The fundraising for this enterprise coincided with heightened JNF money-raising efforts all over the Diaspora. Leading movement activists were sent to the four corners of the earth to stir donors’ willingness to step up their contributions; they included Weizmann’s close friend, the journalist and author Nahum Sokolow, who had relocated to London. Sokolow, subsequently the fifth president of the Zionist Movement, apprised Weizmann of the sums that were raised in Britain in the course of hundreds of rallies and conferences and put his finger on the main difficulty: how to explain to the donors exactly what the money was meant for.[footnoteRef:1] [1:  Weizmann Archive, 3-444, Sokolow to Weizmann, 8 August 1918.] 

The effects of the strenuous information efforts became evident within a year as total JNF revenue from the Diaspora tripled. In Britain, too, after years of torpor and scanty flows of funds into the Commission’s exchequer, the new-era euphoria that gripped everybody and the intensive information operations by Sokolow and his associates all across Britain found immediate expression. In the first half of 1918, donations escalated to £2,000. It was for good reason that the treasurer, Elija Wolf Rabbinowice, newly elected to the chair, did not hesitate to proclaim in the course of the first annual convention, held in Manchester on 4 August 1918, that the fundraising target for the coming fiscal year would be £5,000 (!). Simon Marks, the chair of the English Zionist Federation and a participant in the convention, boldly announced his own aspiration: raising at least £20,000 per year within a few years for the JNF in Britain. ‘You are the apostles of the cause of the Jewish National Fund’, he exclaimed from the podium of the chair to the activists at the impressive gathering—roughly a hundred heads of committees in the provinces and representatives of dozens of Zionist organisations who were associated with the four large Zionist entities of which the Jewish National Fund Commission for England was composed—the English Zionist Federation, the Order of Ancient Maccabeans, the Joint Council of Jewish Friendly Societies in Manchester, and Poale Zion.
There was a time when Anglo-Jewry could be satisfied with a minor position in the Zionist Movement. The declaration of the English Government has changed that. Even against our wish we are pushed to the front. Our post has become the post of honour in the Zionist movement, and it is our duty to show ourselves worthy of the occasion, worthy of the position in which Providence has placed us.[footnoteRef:2] [2:  National Library of Israel 1918:1 PC 6047. Report of the First Annual Assembly of the Jewish National Fund Commission for England, August 1918. ] 

Simon Marks, the chair of the English Zionist Federation and a participant in the conference, was so bold as to express the hope that the National Fund would raise at least £20,000 per year in Britain.
British Jews responded to this call of the hour by beginning to donate in varied ways. While some of the proceeds were forwarded directly to the administration in Jerusalem and were not recorded as the Commission’s revenues (as happened in the case of Alfred Mond, who promised in November 1918 to donate £25,000 in several portions between 1919 and 1929),[footnoteRef:3] the Commission began to market several new programs for dissemination with the encouragement of the central administration. In the Nahlah scheme—an initiative broached by the agronomist Akiva Ettinger, then director of the Agricultural Settlement Department of the Zionist Organisation and the Lands Department of the JNF—it was proposed to solicit donations from British Jewry, by means of the Commission, for the purchase of five parcels of land, each parcel ten hectares in area and costing £200, in the memory of Dr Jechiel Tschlenow.[footnoteRef:4] [3:  Sir Alfred Mond (1868–1930), Baron Melchett—a British industrialist, financier, and politician, a Zionist philanthropist, and a close associate of Weizmann who headed the Palestine Economic Council for the economic development of the Yishuv. The town of Tel Mond was named for him.]  [4:  Jechiel Tschlenow (1863–1918), a doctor and a Zionist leader, chaired the All-Russian Zionist Conferences for many years and was a member of the Jewish Colonial Trust and the Jewish National Fund. On the eve of World War I, he worked together with the Zionist Executive in London, where he died.] 

To promote this venture, David Levontin, the first director of the Jaffa branch of the Anglo-Palestine Bank, participated in a meeting of the Commission and suggested that, to meet the targets of the Nahlah scheme, the Commission should set the goal of raising £6,000 by the end of 1919. In accordance with the scheme as it was presented to the public, each donor was supposed to fund the acquisition of one dunam by contributing £2. The Commission adopted Levontin’s recommendation and even undertook to purchase one additional parcel in honour of Rev. (Rabbi) Goldbloom and his wife on the occasion of their silver anniversary. The donations that were collected in the rest of the Diaspora, and from the Commission, sufficed for the purchase of 66 dunams adjacent to the Hadar Hacarmel neighbourhood in Haifa for a new neighbourhood that would bear Tschlenow’s name—the Yechiel Quarter.
Apart from the Nahlah scheme, the Committee set several additional objectives and plans for fiscal 1919. One was the establishment of a Pioneer Fund at the behest of the Poale Zion association in England, whose representatives, as stated, participated on the board of the Commission; its purpose was to raise £1,000 for assistance to the farmers of the Yishuv. Another program was the Palestine Settlement Fund, which encouraged self-taxation as a permanent obligation, evoking the biblical tithe, for £10 per year; a third scheme was a campaign that would inspire every Jewish community in the UK to contribute toward the planting of a hundred trees. In addition to these new initiatives, the first annual convention resolved in favour of procedures concerning the emptying of collection boxes twice a year, the publication of a weekly Jewish National Fund Bulletin in English and Yiddish, and an annual conference that would take place in a different main province of Britain each time. At the end of the gathering, representatives of the provincial committees were summoned one by one to announce their fundraising targets and a statement was released assuring the Commission’s maximum support for the JNF.[footnoteRef:5] The Commission managed to meet most of the targets that it set in the course of the gathering except for the regular publication of the bulletin due to the rather steep printing and distribution costs that the project would entail. In subsequent years, several additional attempts were made to find a way to issue the publication on a regular basis.[footnoteRef:6] [5:  National Library of Israel 1918:1 PC 6047. Report of the First Annual Assembly of the Jewish National Fund Commission for England, August 1918.]  [6:  In 1923, for example, the bulletin went over to a monthly format and the possibility of printing it in Germany was considered. Another attempt to distribute it was made by publishing it in the Zionist Review; this format, too, however, was discontinued in 1926.] 

In July 1919, the Zionist Organisation put out a call for the establishment of an additional ad hoc Zionist fund, the Palestine Restoration Fund, in order to energise the building of the Yishuv. The sums of money that Diaspora communities were expected to donate to help with (in fact, to finance) the purchase of land in Eretz Israel and to build and revitalise the Yishuv grew steadily, forcing the Commission not only to compete with parallel Zionist funds but also to struggle on additional fronts. Despite the general euphoria that accompanied the national revival and the steep increase in fundraising revenue, British Jewry’s indifference to Zionism remained strongly evident. Another challenge that made it hard for the Commission to meet its ambitious targets had to do with its organisational structure, which in greater part, as mentioned, was based on volunteer work by both the board and the provincial committees. This hardship was manifested mainly in faltering communication with the chairs of the far-flung committees and difficulty in finding funds with which to invite prominent speakers to visit remote communities and campaign among them for Zionist goals generally and those of the JNF particularly. For example, the committee in Glasgow asked Rabbi Goldbloom, then deputy chair of the English Zionist Federation, to visit that city at their expense to give sermons in two synagogues on the anniversary of Herzl’s death with the proceeds going to the JNF. They mentioned to him, ‘it is known to your honour that the situation of the Zionist movement in our city is seriously impoverished. There are various reasons for this, but one of the most significant is the lack of agitation for Zionism from the outside’.[footnoteRef:7] [7:  Central Zionist Archives A61/71, JNF committee in Glasgow to Goldbloom, 2 June 1918 (Original in Hebrew).] 

Another conspicuous problem was the large-scale turnover of personnel on the Commission’s board. In the course of 1918, three secretaries succeeded each other until it was determined that the brushmaker Percy P. Baker would hold the post. In September of that year, a decision was made to relocate the Commission offices from Fulbourne Street in the East End to central London, where the Commission would share an office with the English Zionist Federation at 119–120 London Wall.
After Dr Max Bodenheimer resigned from the JNF helm in September 1919, the banker Nehemia de Lieme was named his successor. De Lieme’s tenure lasted only one year; then he, too, resigned due to a disagreement about buying the lands of the Jezreel Valley. Amid this instability at the JNF administration, the English Commission carried on in its routine way, holding annual assemblies, setting budget targets, promoting high-visibility projects as focal points of its fundraising activity, attempting to recruit more and more volunteers for fundraising activities, and, above all, for keeping track of and emptying the Blue Boxes. Some of these volunteers, Zionist activists in Britain, occasionally allowed themselves to pursue independent initiatives and forward their proceeds to the Commission. This was done, for example, by Sir Lewis Bernstein Namier, a professor of modern British history who came from an assimilated Jewish family and was a familiar and much-respected figure in Conservative Party circles. When Namier joined the English Zionist Federation, he developed an original fundraising method of his own: he would regularly buy crates of Adin bath soap from the Shemen plant in Haifa, sell the contents to friends and acquaintances, use the proceeds to buy new crates at once, and send the difference to the Commission.[footnoteRef:8] [8: Leopold Schen memoirs, p. 33.] 

In June 1920, the JNF received good news: it had received the enormous sum of £25,000 from the estate of Louis Rosenblum, a devoted Zionist from Brighton. The probate of Rosenblum’s will involved multiple legal struggles that dragged on until the mid-1940s and occupied the committee that mediated between the family’s lawyers and the JNF administration. When probate was approved by the High Court of Justice in London, Hannah Rosenblum wrote to the committee: ‘the estate [נא לשלב את המובאה המקורית באנגלית][footnoteRef:9] [9: Ha’aretz, 23 March 1924. The legal correspondence concerning the Rosenblum will is documented in many files in CZA, and in the JN UK archive.] 

‘העיזבון, אות נאמן הוא מה מאוד מסור היה בעלי לתנועה הציונית. יודעת אני בבירור מה הייתה כוונתו בתרומה שתרם, כי שנינו היינו תמיד נושאים את נפשנו בתקווה לעתיד ארצנו, ארץ ישראל. [...] כל מה שעשיתי אני לטובת פסק הדין לא עשיתי אלא מתוך הכרת חובה, חובה קדושה’
In July 1920, a large Zionist assembly was convened in London to plot the course and sketch the image of the Zionist Movement in view of the new reality in Palestine. As the gathering moved ahead, the establishment of Keren Hayesod as a central financial institution of the Zionist Movement was announced. The new institution’s fundraising methods would closely resemble those of the JNF: voluntary taxation and financial donations. Several months later, the two organisations demarcated their working purviews: the JNF would continue to solicit donations in the accepted ways—general contributions, tree-planting campaigns, stamps, recording in the Golden Book, Blue Boxes—but would forgo voluntary taxation, which would be used by Keren Hayesod which expected to raise the enormous sum of £25,000,000 within a few years.[footnoteRef:10] To compensate the JNF for the foreseen decline in its revenues, it was determined that Keren Hayesod would cede 20 percent of its income to the JNF. [10:  Metzer, National Capital for National Home, p. 91.] 

Those at Keren Hayesod soon realised that voluntary taxation could not bring in the enormous amount of money envisaged, and instead of imposing a compulsory tax, they chose to base Keren Hayesod’s revenues on donations gathered in various ways through national committees across the Diaspora and special fundraising drives. [footnoteRef:11] A Keren Hayesod committee in Britain, identical to the British JNF Commission in its organisational structure and working methods, was established. The committee set itself the ambitious target of raising £2,000,000 (!) in its first five years of activity.[footnoteRef:12] This proved totally unrealistic; Keren Hayesod’s actual donation revenue in Britain amounted to only £10,232 by March 1922—sixth largest among Diaspora countries.[footnoteRef:13] [11:  Elitzur, Ha-hon ha-leumi u-vinyan ha-arets [National capital and the building of Eretz (Israel)], p. 36. ]  [12:  CZA, A61/77, summary of committee meeting on 24 November, 1920. ]  [13:  CZA, KH1/1020, record of funds collected parsed by countries up to March 1922, document dated 30 April 1922.] 

The two British commissions—Keren Hayesod and JNF—competed for the hearts and, foremost, the wallets of the same relatively small target population and operated in the same ways, creating much tension between these organs from the very outset of their work. Were this not enough, additional philanthropic associations and organisations operated alongside the two main Zionist funds and targeted the same donor population. The proliferation of philanthropies burdened and confused the donors— a scenario that the Zionist Executive knew well from other Diaspora countries as well. To solve the problem, the main administrations of the two central funds officially encouraged the funds in various countries to collaborate, to the extent of launching united appeals with a prior written agreement about the division of the spoils. However, actual consent to the holding of united appeals was left up to the communities, and the joint success or failure of these ventures hinged primarily on the quality of relations among local committee heads. In Britain, it quickly transpired that the road to cooperation was not yet fully paved.
In the founding year of Keren Hayesod, representatives of the thirty-eight branches [of the JNF?] and of eight Zionist organisations came together for the committee’s [the JNF Commission’s?] third annual conference, held in Manchester on 27 March 1921. After two years (1918–1919) of impressive revenue growth, it became clear that growth had come to an abrupt halt, to the Commission’s dismay. Nearly 50 percent of provincial communities had stopped donating to each of the philanthropies almost totally. To make matters worse, the financial statements showed a perceptible upturn in operating expenses, largely due to the employment of new, paid workers to empty the additional 10,000 Blue Boxes that had been purchased from the administration and distributed in the community that year, and an upturn in spending on local printing of informational materials. These expenses accounted for more than 20 percent of total revenues.
It was not hard to identify Keren Hayesod as the main culprit for the Commission’s lost revenues. First, the Commission had stopped receiving revenues from voluntary taxation; second, the Keren Hayesod Committee in Britain expressed staunch resistance to fundraising events that the Commission initiated insofar as these, in the committee’s opinion, might diminish its own events’ chances of success. Given Keren Hayesod’s status as the central fundraising organ of the Zionist Movement, the Federation gave its interests priority and precedence in public relations over those of the JNF Commission, which sensed (rightly) that it had been shorn of its primacy.[footnoteRef:14] [14:  National Library PV06047, 1921:3; third annual conference report, March 1921.] 

To make itself conspicuous on the front lines nevertheless, the Commission had to act creatively to hold attractive events for the community. One such event, which evolved into a tradition, was an annual week-long fair at the East End Gallery, produced solely at the initiative of the East End committee in London. Familiar personalities from the community were invited to take part on each day of the fair, giving the venture a veneer of prestige and importance. Diverse stalls were deployed across the exhibit hall: donated items for sale, food, information from various Zionist societies, produce from Eretz Israel, and an Eretz Israel art exhibition. Films were screened for the public at large. In view of the success of the fair, the heads of the provincial committees were asked to organise large-scale central events in their own communities at least once per year. Apart from the annual fair at the East End Gallery, the Commission continued to hold various social events such as concerts, dance parties, theatrical performances, garden parties, and so on, some organised on a volunteer basis and others in cooperation with various organisations with whom they had agreements on dividing up the profits. WIZO (the Women’s International Zionist Organisation), for example, received 30 percent of the take in response to its members’ work in organizing events.[footnoteRef:15] [15:  CZA, KKL6/30, board meeting of 10 March 1931, in which the historical record is mentioned.] 

At the time of the conference, two JNF directors, Lewis Eisen and Goldbloom (the latter now serving as Weizmann’s deputy at the Federation), were traveling to Palestine in order to get an up-close view of the JNF’s operations, particularly the condition of the Herzl Forest.[footnoteRef:16] In Palestine, the two met with Ettinger, who briefed them on the condition of the JNF and prepared a comprehensive itinerary for them. Ettinger explained that the JNF had already established title to 2,447 hectares and intended to settle 500 families or 2,500 young people at twelve new settlement locations in the next two years, provided the JNF could raise £100,000. Ettinger took the two visitors for a visit to Qiryat ‘Anavim, where they were strongly impressed by the women pioneers who shared the labour as full equals. Afterwards, they went on to Karkur because Eisen headed the First London Ahuzah Company, an association of some eighty members that had come together in 1913 for the private purchase of land for agricultural settlement in Karkur, a short distance from Hadera. The next stops on the field trip were the communes in Degania, Kinneret, and Gan Shmuel. In the course of their visit, the two officials composed a report for the conference, which awaited their impressions eagerly. In the report, they described in detail the state of sanitation, the crops being raised, and employment in the settlements, but made no mention whatsoever of afforestation and, in particular, the condition of the Herzl Forest—which, as stated, had been the main reason for `their visit. Instead of first-hand testimony about progress in afforestation, the authors added a report from the Main Office with a detailed account of the importance of the JNF’s afforestation projects, the Herzl Forest chief among them, of course.[footnoteRef:17] [16:  On Goldbloom’s impression in the course of his visit, see Ha’aretz, 30 March 1921.]  [17:  Source: report attached to summary of the Third Annual Conference, National Library, PV-6047, 1921:3.] 

Summing up the conference, several resolutions were made that were meant to strengthen ties between the Commission and the JNF Main Office and the Commission’s branches around Britain, and within the Board of Directors. It was also decided that each branch should produce an index of all Zionist activists in their community and send a copy to the Commission [כן? האם זאת "הוועד המרכזי"?]] in London. It was also agreed to adopt a recommendation from de Lieme, chair of the JNF, that the chair of each country’s commission be appointed by the Zionist Federation of the country. At the end of the conference, for the first time, the Commission stated that it was a branch of the JNF Main Office.[footnoteRef:18] [18:  National Library, PV 6047, 1921:3, report of the Third Annual Conference of the Commission, pp. 16–17.] 

In 1922, the Main Office moved to its permanent premises in Jerusalem; it was headed by Menachem Ussishkin from 1923 onward. In England, the Commission left its office on Fulbourne Street in the East End, where the East London committee continued to maintain its headquarters, and moved to 8 Houndsditch Street, in the City. Now that the Main Office had relocated to Jerusalem, it was decided that the financial statements would be submitted in accordance with the Hebrew calendar and not the Gregorian one. Among the forty-nine national commissions worldwide, the branch in the United States led the standings of donor countries. The British Commission was second, but its donation revenues remained rather modest at only £10,365 in 1921–1922. At the JNF administration and the national commissions, it was understood that given the new reality of Keren Hayesod as an additional player in the field of philanthropic organisations for the Yishuv, activity had to be taken to a new level. Indeed, the office in Jerusalem operated indefatigably to initiate and create attractive avenues for donors. One of these new initiatives, broached by Akiva Ettinger, was the declaration of the Red Everlasting flower (in Hebrew: Dam ha-Maccabim, ‘Maccabees’ Blood’) as the national flower of the Yishuv and the provision of large shipments of it, grown by Hebrew pioneers, for sale throughout the Diaspora. Some 5,000 flowers were sent to Britain and sold on Flag Day, an event that coincided with the Lag Ba’Omer festivities.[footnoteRef:19] [19:  JC, 31 March 1922.] 

Another way to boost donation income was to arrange the screening of JNF propaganda films by the Diaspora commissions. These media, however, did not always prove effective. In late 1923, the JNF administration sent to England a film that had cost more to produce than the revenue it generated. Elias Epstein, an Englishman who had emigrated to Eretz Israel and worked for the Main Office in Jerusalem, was posted to London that year to help the Commission with its information efforts. Epstein crisscrossed England in an attempt to promote fundraising for the planting of a Britannia Forest and the leasing of land in the Jezreel Valley to found a settlement for British Jews. Neither project bore fruit due to scant interest in the community. Over the next two years, 1923–1924, donation income in Britain continued to slump even as most of the Diaspora commissions managed to increase their revenues.
Many community events—social, communitarian, religious, and familial—served as platforms for JNF fundraising appeals. Some were totally spontaneous. In family celebrations, for example, it was common to see an enthusiastic Zionist among the guests take advantage of the event to move from table to table soliciting funds for the redemption of land in Eretz Israel. Often even the most apathetic guests encountered expectant gazes from others at their table and succumbed to the social pressure. The sums raised in this manner, while not particularly large, added to the pride of the celebrant family, which was privileged to have its event mentioned in the Jewish Chronicle along with gratitude for the donation.
Other events, of course, were meticulously planned and included invitations to heads and esteemed members of the community, as well as Jewish and non-Jewish British politicians, to serve as patrons or speakers, adding a little stardust to the occasion. The JNF administration also spurred the national commissions to raise funds for specific projects of its own. The establishment of a garden city in Tel Aviv named Nordia, on the occasion of Max Nordau’s seventieth birthday, is an example of a project that did not gain a foothold in the community; the amounts collected for it in Britain were rather paltry.[footnoteRef:20] Similarly, at a festive concert in September 1922 at Whitechapel on the occasion of the JNF’s twentieth anniversary, the Commission found it hard to obtain impressive donations that would offset a weak fundraising year. [20:  It was preceded by a project that envisioned the establishment of a garden city named for Nordau near Kinneret, which did not come to pass. In regard to it, see Tal, Land on the Kinneret Shore.] 

For this reason, the mood at the Commission’s annual conference in January 1924 was dejected. The heads of the Commission blamed the gloomy situation on various things, such as the withholding of a police permit for activities involving the sale of flowers from Eretz Israel on Flag Day, previously a source of handsome revenues, and a drastic increase in administrative expenses—now consuming 42 percent (!) of total revenues due to the employment of Blue Box emptiers who received a commission of 15 percent of the contents of the boxes. Were this not enough, the Commission had to contend with the loss and theft of boxes in cases that sometimes even made their way to court. In light of the grim atmosphere and the disappointing results of their efforts, the chair and the treasurer announced their resignation.[footnoteRef:21] [21:  JC, 12 January 1924. ] 

As the Commission busily plotted a new course, the Federation intervened to work out an arrangement that would explicitly define working relations between the Keren Hayesod committee and the Commission and ameliorate the two organisations’ turgid relations. The details of the settlement, concluded in February 1924, comprised the following:
· The JNF Commission [כן?] may continue to use the fundraising methods identified with it.
· All permanent pledges given to Keren Hayesod in sums smaller than £5 will be transferred to the Commission.
· Only Keren Hayesod will be allowed to accept donations via regular annual pledges (a subscription of sorts).
It was also agreed that the two bodies would not carry out a direct financial reckoning. Instead, the Federation would maintain a separate account in which sums to the credit of the Commission would be shown, a detailed report would be sent to the Keren Hayesod head office in Jerusalem, and the latter would forward the funds to the bank account of the JNF administration in Jerusalem, which, in turn, would credit the British Commission’s account.[footnoteRef:22] [22:  JC, 29 February 1924. ] 

At this time, being left with the more grassroots-like fundraising channels, the Commission faced the additional and at least equally dire challenge of the resignation of its senior executives. To help revitalise the institution, the JNF administration decided to post Rabbi Nathan Netanyahu, a teacher at the boys’ school in Safed, to England, as its representative; he stayed in England for three months.[footnoteRef:23] In April 1924, the businessman Leopold Schen was named treasurer. Once this was done, Ussishkin, chair of the JNF board, visited England in the course of a tour of the national commissions in Europe. Schen, the new treasurer, and Eisen, the provisional chair, welcomed him. Ussishkin advised Schen that he expected the English commission to raise £20,000 in the coming fiscal year. Schen, however, unhesitantly set the sum at what he considered reasonable: £16,300. Although Ussishkin found Schen’s obstinacy displeasing, the exchange marked the onset of a strong friendship and many years of cooperation between them.[footnoteRef:24] [23:  Rabbi Nathan Netanyahu (Mileikowsky) (1879–1935), grandfather of Israel’s future prime minister, Benjamin Netanyahu.]  [24:  Schen memoirs, p. 38.] 

Schen was a skilful and industrious treasurer who managed to revive the Commission’s fundraising activity impressively. In addition to these qualities, he was a successful idea man who coined the Commission’s slogan—‘A penny a day is the JNF way’—which sank strong roots in the community until 1948, when another slogan took over. Apart from small donations, rather sizable ones occasionally arrived in unexpected ways, such as an anonymous contribution that was later traced to the philanthropist Ezra Sassoon. Sassoon contributed £35,000 to Keren Hayesod for the establishment of Moshav Kefar Yehezkel in commemoration of his younger brother, Yehezkel, who had drowned in the Tigris River, and concurrently donated another £1,000 to the Commission anonymously.
Under Schen’s leadership, not only did donations stop slumping but signs of an upturn came into sight. Because of this success, he was named chair of the Commission in 1925. The weekly bulletin about the Commission’s doings reappeared in January 1926 and continued regularly. Even so, Schen’s tenure did not last long. Disagreements between members of the Commission’s board developed about the manner of cooperation that should be maintained with Keren Hayesod, WIZO, and the youth organisations. Schen sought stronger cooperation with them; his colleagues feared that this would degrade the unique identity of the Commission. Schen’s resignation was immediately manifested in a steep downturn in revenues and the discontinuance of the bulletin. Ussishkin and Abraham Granovsky (later Granot), head of the JNF Finance Department, were summoned to London in July 1926 in a futile attempt to talk Schen out of his move.[footnoteRef:25] [25:  Barak, Leopold Schen, p. 24.] 

Again the Commission had to restabilise and, above all, find a path toward harmonious cooperation with Keren Hayesod. While relations between the funds’ head offices were rather chilly and tense in the British capital, the heads of the two organisations’ commissions in Manchester and Liverpool established successful cooperation based on a joint agreement to save on expenses and their wish to maximise the effect of Zionist propaganda in their communities. In both cities, the two entities shared an office, held joint events and fundraising operations, and agreed in advance on how to divide the donation proceeds. Independent initiatives such as these kindled the displeasure of the two commissions’ boards. Apart from London, Manchester, and Liverpool, the JNF Commission had offices in Leeds and Glasgow. The other dozens of branches had to content themselves with meeting and planning their activities in activists’ homes or offices that various community associations and organisations lent to them sporadically.
The JNF head office in Jerusalem was well aware of the goings-on at the British Commission but strove not to meddle in the commission’s internal affairs unless asked to do so. It did, however, see fit to steer matters toward initiatives that might boost revenues and enhance financial efficiency. In late 1926, for example, the Head Office offered to send from Palestine an instructor to give staff members guidance in its working methods. The Commission dodged the offer elegantly, claiming that the instructor was unfamiliar with the special conditions in Britain. Accordingly, he was not dispatched.[footnoteRef:26] [26:  Hakibbutz Ha’artzi Archive [כן? אק"א?] G1/4, summary of meeting on 4 January 1927.] 

Copies of the summaries of Commission board meetings were sent regularly and rather systematically to Jerusalem, and the administration in Jerusalem sent its commissions in the Diaspora informational and promotional material including books, posters, leaflets, and even dried fruit such as almonds that were to be sold. The items were disseminated and marketed as part of a broader effort to create community empathy with the JNF’s goals on Jewish festivals. The ‘new year of the trees’, celebrated on Tu Bishvat (Shevat 15), became a familiar JNF symbol and a platform for stimulating donations for tree-planting. In an emulation of the ‘flowers’ method, the administration sent almonds from Eretz Israel to the Diaspora commissions. The fruit was packaged in small bags to which a note was pressed, urging children who were studying Hebrew in various educational settings to make donations for tree-planting. Apart from its intimate relations with the head office in Jerusalem, the Commission maintained fruitful connections with other JNF commissions in the Diaspora, foremost to learn and adopt ideas that had already proved successful. Thus, the commission in Poland adopted the British idea of printing up cards with Sabbath candle-lighting times; the British Commission adopted from the French commission an idea of a children’s game; the Dutch commission sent a sample shipment of goblets ["כוסות לדוגמה’?]; and a representative from South Africa, visiting England, was invited to a board meeting and described his commission’s activities.
The administration in Jerusalem repeatedly approached the Commission and asked it to prevail on Schen to return to his post. In November 1927, its efforts paid off; Schen resumed the chair. However, he attached strings to his consent, relating to the way he intended to go about his work: ‘little interference from the head office in Jerusalem, and not to be bound by the Constitution which I regarded as being out of date and impractical’.[footnoteRef:27] Alongside Schen, the JNF board appointed Paul Singer, a representative of the Zionist Executive in London, to serve as the JNF’s representative to the British Empire. This post had two main goals: to ensure proper safeguarding and representation of JNF interests and to nurture relations and continual sharing of information between the Head Office and the Commission’s board. [27:  Schen memoirs, p. 29.] 

Schen’s comeback had immediate perceptible effects. Apart from the decision to reinstate the weekly bulletin, he made a bold decision that promoted the image of the Commission in the eyes of the Head Office and the community. Ahead of the festivities surrounding the tenth anniversary of the Balfour Declaration, the Head Office asked all national commissions to mark the occasion by recording Balfour’s name in the Golden Book. Schen, considering this gesture insufficiently respectful, saw it as a golden opportunity to demonstrate the Commission’s power with a unique initiative—a special fundraising drive in the community to plant a forest of 50,000 trees in Eretz Israel in Balfour’s name.[footnoteRef:28] The JNF administration in Jerusalem, still remembering the failure of the Herzl Forest, frowned on the idea. Schen stood his ground and won. In his memoirs, he recounted the way Julius Berger, a JNF representative who had been invited to London to participate in the annual conference of the Commission, responded to the initiative: [28:  CZ, KKL5/2694-24, Head Office to Schen, 26 February 1928.] 

Mr Beger said that the KKL in Jerusalem had made many attempts at afforestation, and failed bitterly, and a failure in this case would cause a political scandal. I told him not to worry, I would take care of it, and see to it that a forest be planted. He went back to Jerusalem and told Ussishkin of my plan, and Ussishkin wrote me a strong letter opposing it and so did the other members of the office, including Dr Granot.[footnoteRef:29] [29:  Schen memoirs, p. 54.] 

Schen began right away to raise donations for the project. First, he approached Lord Balfour and asked him to authorise the planting of a forest in his name in the hills of Nazareth.[footnoteRef:30] Balfour replied as follows: [30:  Schen memoirs, p. 29.] 

Need I say that I feel very greatly honoured by the announcement contained in your letter of the 7th, that it is proposed to call the newly planted forest in my name. I earnestly hope that it will mark another step in the economic advance of Palestine under the inspiration and guidance of the Movement in which your Society is taking so active a part.[footnoteRef:31] [31:  JC, 18 November 1927. Balfour’s letter to Schen was posted on 8 November 1927 and appears on the invitation to the planting ceremony. CZA, KK5-2694-39.] 

Schen immediately set up a Balfour Forest Committee and asked Major Nathan, Weizmann’s attorney and an East End candidate in the British Parliament elections, to head it, promising that if he did so, Schen would act on his behalf in the election campaign. Nathan assented. Concurrently, Schen sent requests to high-ranking British political figures, including the Prime Minister, Stanley Baldwin, to lend their patronage to the venture. Those in government service, finding the requests somewhat embarrassing due to their fear of the possible political ramifications of publicly supporting a Zionist project, asked the Colonial Office to respond to the request. The response, penned by an official at the Office, left no room for misinterpretation:
I’m always against acceding to these requests for ‘patronage’ of particular Jewish projects in, or in connection with, Palestine. I can recall other such requests in the past, and have invariably advised against acceptance. [...] It is always possible—given the political conditions of Palestine—that the project may give rise to local squabbles which will assume a political complexion. It seems to me much better that British Ministers should not be personally associated with this. I suggest a polite refusal.[footnoteRef:32] [32:  [British] [כן?] National Archives, CO 733/144/16, correspondence between Secretary of the British Prime Minister and the Colonial Office, 9 December 1927.] 

Some of those approached, however, did not refuse. Conspicuous among them were Zionist and non-Zionist British Jews, and the project was begun. In early July 1927, the Commission, now renamed the Jewish National Fund for Great Britain and Ireland, organised a fundraising dinner for the Balfour Forest at Guild Hall in London. Seven hundred high-echelon community and British political and philanthropic personalities including Lord Reading, Sir Alfred Mond (Baron Melchett), and the Jewish tobacco tycoon Bernhard Baron were invited. It was a tremendous success, ‘the first time in Zionist history that an appeal was made and exceeded its target’.[footnoteRef:33] Baron, who until then had been disinclined to donate to Zionist causes, signed a check in the sum of £5,000. Mond gave £1,000. Even Simon Marks of Marks and Spencer, a staunch opponent of the Commission in England, accepted the invitation and pledged the minimum donation that was expected of the guests: £30. The Balfour Forest Committee set up a subcommittee of afforestation experts and conditioned the transfer of the proceeds to the JNF on receiving an appropriate planting program. Only when the committee approved the scheme was the money handed over to the JNF, which sent it on to Kibbutz Ginegar so that the planting could take place.[footnoteRef:34] [33:  Schen memoirs, p. 56.]  [34:  Ibid.] 

On 23 February 1928, a splendid planting ceremony was held at Ginegar in the presence of high-ranking individuals including the High Commissioner, Lord Plumer, and his wife; Baron Melchett; Harry Sacker, representing the Zionist Executive; Ussishkin; and Dr David Yellin, President of Kenesset Yisrael (the Palestine Jewish community). Congratulatory telegrams from Lord Balfour, Herbert Samuel, and Bernhard Baron were read out. Beyond the success of the fundraising drive for the forest and the honouring of Balfour’s name, it was also a respectable political achievement. Several days after the ceremony, Schen received a thank-you letter from the Head Office, stating inter alia, ‘The Balfour Forest was initiated by you [and] will prove to be the most brilliant [initiative] in the history of the JNF in England’.[footnoteRef:35] [35:  CZA, KKL5-2694-24, Head Office to Schen, 26 February 1928.] 

The 1927–1928 budget year ended with revenue in the record sum of £25,393, three times the previous year’s proceeds. The Commission relocated once again that year, to 15 Minories Street, and could take pride in having made its imprint in the landscape of Eretz Israel and in a variety of endeavours that touched the lives of many members of the community via multiple cultural and social events such as dance parties, plays, garden fairs, lectures, Eretz Israel exhibitions, and the production of an ‘Oriental fair’ ["ירוד המזרח"?] that generated handsome revenues. The distribution and emptying of Blue Boxes also were systematised and, at the Tu Bishvat festivities, the Commission handed out thousands of bags of almonds to children in dozens of schools. Fortune had begun to smile on the Commission, it seemed. Under Schen’s leadership, the Commission’s board was composed of representatives of five Zionist organisations: the Federation, WIZO, the Council of Young Zionist Friendship Associations [כך?], Young Mizrachi, and Poale Zion.
The Commission proved again that it had become a sturdy source of economic support for the JNF in a no less impressive achievement relating to the lands of Haifa Bay. The affair began when the Haifa Bay Development Company, a partnership among the American Zion Commonwealth, Meshek Land Company, and Kedem, Ltd., entered a deep financial crisis that forced it to put up some of its land for sale.[footnoteRef:36] The Yishuv institutions were greatly concerned about the move, fearing that the land would slip out of Jewish hands. Even though the JNF lacked the funds to purchase the acreage outright, it assented to participate in the purchase given the troubled times. When the JNF administration approached several players, asked them to help raise the requisite sum, and was turned down, it appealed to Schen and asked him to obtain, immediately, the £25,000 that was needed to complete the transaction. Schen mobilised friends as guarantors of a loan from the Norwich Union Life Insurance Company, the check for which was made out to the JNF. The sum sufficed for the purchase of 2,100 hectares in the Haifa Bay area.[footnoteRef:37] The Jewish Telegraphic Agency reported the matter thus: [36:  For the history of this company, see Yossi Ben-Artzi, ‘Hakhsharat Mifratz Haifa’ [The Haifa Bay Development Company], in Eli Schiller (ed.) Sefer Zev Vilnay, B., Jerusalem, Ariel, 1984–1987, pp. 240–249.]  [37:  Hayot, Establishment of the Qerayot in Haifa Bay, p. 18.] 

The Jewish National Fund for Great Britain and Ireland sent to Palestine a sum of £15,500 for the amelioration of the Haifa Bay area. The amount was received by the Jewish National Fund as the first instalment of the loan of £25,000 which it has obtained from the Norwich Union Life Insurance Company. The loan was raised, as Leopold Schen, the president, explained, at the specific request of the Jewish National Fund headquarters in Jerusalem.[footnoteRef:38] [38:  JTA, 18 October 1929.] 

In late August 1929, the eruption of acute violence in the Yishuv shook the foundations of British Jewry. The reports that reached Britain as the ‘disturbances’ were underway reverberated through the community, and as the magnitude of the disaster in lives and property began to come into view, the community leaders responded by establishing an Emergency Fund in concert with the leaders of American Jewry. The fund soon managed to raise enormous sums from all over the world—mainly from the United States and Great Britain—for immediate aid to the casualties of the riots. The JNF administration responded by imploring its commissions in the Diaspora to raise funds urgently to ensure the pioneers’ safety and the settlement of Jews on Jewish soil—acts that the events had infused with redoubled validity. The community, also realizing that Eretz Israel could not be taken for granted as a safe haven for Jews, mobilised vigorously to generate revenue for the homeland.
Despite the dire situation in Eretz Israel, the Commission continued to hold social events that attracted the masses. Hundreds ordered tickets for a dance party held on 27 October 1929, at the prestigious Cecil Hotel; a film about JNF and Keren Hayesod activity in Eretz Israel, shown at the Lido Cinema in Golders Green, drew thousands of viewers; and 450 guests reveled at the joint annual fest of the Golders Green and Hampstead committees, held at the London Trocadero. More and more synagogue leaders agreed to buy JNF stamps and affix them to invitation cards for reserved seating in the synagogues on Rosh Hashana and Yom Kippur. The importance of these mass events lay not only in raising funds for the JNF and attracting the public to the idea of settling Eretz Israel, but also in the encounters they created, uniting the community that wished to maintain its religious, cultural, and social complexion and singularity.
As the 1930s began, the Commission’s growing popularity was notable. It was not limited to members of the Jewish community. Several Christian groups, such as the Christadelphians in Britain, a pro-Zionist religious association that also had branches in the United States, were active in raising funds for both Keren Hayesod and the JNF. Its members asked the Commission for Blue Boxes and forwarded donations for the planting of 1,000 trees in the forests of Eretz Israel.[footnoteRef:39] The surging popularity was also reflected in an increase in the number of people in Britain who were recorded in the Golden Book—around forty of 755 records in this book were made in 1929–1930.[footnoteRef:40] [39:  State Archives [National Archives? Israel State Archives?], from Bulletin 99, 25 October 1929.]  [40:  State Archives [National Archives? Israel State Archives?], from Bulletin 123, 18 April 1930.] 

Pursuant to the conclusions of the Shaw and Simpson investigative committees that had probed the determinants of the 1929 ‘disturbances’, restrictions on Jewish land purchases in Eretz Israel and immigration there were promulgated in the Passfield White Paper of October 1930. Both the Yishuv and the Diaspora communities regarded these limitations as a retreat from the official Mandatory policy of supporting the establishment of a Jewish national home in Palestine. To protest the policy change, Weizmann and other leaders resigned from the leadership of the Zionist Executive and the Jewish Agency. When the conclusions of these reports were published, an issue that the Commission had avoided in public rose to the surface: the legal and moral status of the Arab peasants who were living on land that the JNF had purchased. The Commission decided explain the matter on the pages of its weekly bulletin, arguing that the owners of the land had been fully paid and that the peasants had received compensation at the lawful rate and, in many cases, even more.
Given the severe restrictions on land purchase and the large supply of land for sale that the JNF administration could not afford to buy, the Commission faced the challenge of meeting ambitious targets that seemed beyond its abilities. The Commission set a fundraising target of £75,000 for the 1929/30 fiscal year and hoped to attain it utilizing a unique initiative put forward by its vigorous treasurer, the furrier and social activist Cyril J. Ross. The venture, called the Land Redemption Scheme and publicly backed by Baron Melchett, proposed that the community [that each member of the community?] ‘redeem […] Land in Palestine [in] an area equal to that occupied by your Home in Britain’. The idea was to install the plan as British Jewry’s flagship project for the JNF in 1930. Although it resonated widely and received public support from the Federation, it was not a smashing success. In all of Britain, only around 400 people answered the call, many of them activists for the Commission. The checks that were enclosed and the emotional letters that came with them suggest that many were willing to donate but in small sums. One of the first donors was the textile manufacturer and prominent Zionist activist from Leeds, Henrietta Diamond, a shareholder in First London Ahuzah Company and principal patron and chair of the Zebulun Israel Seafaring Society, who gave a contribution for the sum of £10.1.	Comment by JA: זה נכון? זה נראה מעט מאוד
Another fundraising initiative belonged to the former Commission secretary and amateur stamp collector Percy Baker, who that year established the Philatelic Department, an area in which he was vastly knowledgeable. Baker developed the idea of selling stamps all over the world for collection purposes, with proceeds for the Commission in Britain. The department would eventually evolve into the Society of Israel Philatelists, which operated out of the Commission’s offices until the late 1980s. In addition, a Hebrew calendar was distributed each year to every home where a Blue Box had been placed. Attached to the calendar was a greeting card and a small envelope for a donation to be collected several days after distribution.
Even the world-famous Palestine oranges served as a platform for outreach to the community on behalf of the workers of the Yishuv and their produce. The Commission briefly tried to sell crates of oranges using its employees, and although the sales did not generate a profit they had the effect of promoting and taking pride in the labours of the inhabitants of the Yishuv who worked JNF land. Another way of stimulating revenue was by selling life insurance. This initiative began in 1924 with a contract between the JNF administration in Vienna and the Phoenix insurance company. The idea was that the national commissions in the Diaspora would serve as the company’s insurance agents, establish separate insurance departments, and earn a commission of 0.5 percent of sales of various kinds of policies. The initiative did not go over well in Britain; few policies were sold until the 1930s.
In May 1930, Schen announced that he was stepping down. The Commission decided to honour him by contributing to the construction of a reservoir in his name in Karkur, where, as noted, several members of its board held shares in the First London Ahuzah Company. However, since the available donation was not large enough for the construction of the large reservoir that the First London Ahuzah people wanted, and since Karkur was not JNF land to begin with, the money was donated instead for the construction of a reservoir at Kibbutz Na’an, where a plaque installed for the occasion remains to this day.
The fiscal year ended with £11,000 in revenues, sharply lower than in the previous year. Not only was the target not attained but the Commission again experienced extreme and unexpected fluctuations in its donation pendulum. Still, its morale did not falter. It added new branches and its Social Department responded happily to requests from various organisations and associations that booked lectures about labour in Palestine, some accompanied by films, or asked for help in organizing social and Jewish festival events and disseminating the goals of the JNF among children and adults and to entrench Zionism in the communities. Children were given special attention, the thought being that through them the JNF values would make their way to their parents’ hearts. For them, the department organised festivals and celebrations in which films about Eretz Israel were shown. On Hanukkah, the festival of the Maccabees and of the JNF, observed in proximity to Christmas, children received olive-wood dreidls made in Eretz Israel accompanied by booklets with heroic stories and Eretz Israel songs.
Zionist youth associations were immensely helpful in the Commission’s work, mainly in distributing Blue Boxes. When established in May 1929, the Habonim youth organisation[footnoteRef:41] mobilised at once for the Commission’s endeavours. The members of Gedud Trumpeldor, the first branch of Habonim in the East End, distributed Blue Boxes and its groups competed with each other for the largest sum raised.[footnoteRef:42] Habonim became the largest and most influential youth movement in Britain and continued to maintain close cooperation with the Commission. [41:  Habonim, founded by Wellesley Aron, Chaim Lipshitz, and Norman Lourie, was patterned after the Scouts movement for the promotion of Jewish cultural education among immigrant children in the East End.]  [42:  Bulletin 107, 20 December 1929.] 

Many of the Commission’s activists—Zionists in heart and soul—visited Palestine regularly and shared their experiences and impressions at various conferences when they returned to England. A conspicuous group of people of this kind in London included Zalkind Stalbow, Woolf (Volka) Blimes (chair of the JNF commission in Brighton), and Meir Loshak. In the summer of 1928, the three of them established the Anglo-Palestine Citrus Company, Ltd., which purchased land for orchard planting in the vicinity of Rehovot. In late 1929, Stalbow assembled a large group of friends for a visit to Palestine and organised a JNF fundraiser while still aboard the ship. When they reached Palestine, the group met with the heads of the JNF in Jerusalem and conducted a getting-acquainted visit to the Balfour Forest.[footnoteRef:43] [43:  Bulletin 122, 11 April 1930. For the visit to Palestine, see Stalbow, Toledot tsiyoni ehad [History of one Zionist].] 

In May 1930, the JNF administration decided to open a Bequest Department in London, headed by the attorney Mark Ettinger, son of Akiva Ettinger, to deal with wills and legacies, allowing members of the community to legally earmark a share of their estates for the National Fund. The department also offered potential donors a ‘living legacy’ scheme, in which estates would be handed to the JNF during the donors’ life and the JNF, in return, would pay the donors fixed monthly interest for the rest of their lives. The underlying goal was to stimulate donations in various ways and give potential donors an option of passive commemoration—and to regulate the bequest donations legally in order to minimise misunderstandings and the National Fund’s future legal expenses. The gambit began with establishing a dedicated department of this kind in the United States; soon afterwards, a parallel department in London was opened as well, at the Zionist Executive building on 77 Great Russell Street. After several months of activity, Ettinger moved the department to the Commission’s offices. By the end of the year, the first ‘living legacy’ from the community in Britain, for £1,000, was handed over.
In November 1930, Robert Bernard Solomon was named the Commission’s new chair and the JNF Board of Directors approved the appointment in February 1931. Schen stayed around; he was named director of JNF in the British Empire that July.[footnoteRef:44] In his first year at the helm, Solomon already managed to show an increase in revenues, powered conspicuously by a donation from a tobacco tycoon and his Jewish employees for the construction of a water tower at Kibbutz Mishmar Ha’emek.[footnoteRef:45] [44:  STI [??},20 July 1931.]  [45:  Bulletin 170, 27 March 1931.] 

In April 1931, through the mediation of Mark Ettinger, the Commission and the Federation signed a joint contract with the Prudential Assurance Company. Under the main provisions of the accord, the Commission and the Federation agreed to promote and market life insurance for the company in return for a commission that the two organisations would share.[footnoteRef:46] Prudential also undertook to make sizable investments in Palestine and kept its word, investing £125,000 in the government-owned Agricultural Bank for Palestine, established in 1933.[footnoteRef:47] To develop its insurance business, the Commission registered the Insurance Department as an independent company called Jewish National Fund Lepeuloth Meyuhadoth. From 1933 on, the firm was headed by the British-born Dr Edgar Otto Herzfeld, whose family had moved to Berlin in his adolescence and returned to Britain when the Nazis rose to power.	Comment by JA: כך קראו לזה באנגלית? אם לא, אז עדיף לא לשלב עברית ואנגלית - Jewish National Fund for Special Activities [46:  Ha’olam, 14 January 1932; CZA, KKL6/30, summary of board meeting on 27 April 1931. ]  [47:  On the formation of the bank, see Al Eini, [??] the Government Agricultural Bank, The Palestine Post, 29 August 1933.] 

The multiple efforts and creative thinking that were invested in maximizing JNF’s profits found expression in petitions by JNF attorneys to redefine the Fund legally from a limited-liability corporation to a charity in order to benefit from tax breaks. The applications were rejected again and again, on the grounds that JNF was a political entity and therefore failed to qualify as a charity under the 1929 Companies Law.[footnoteRef:48] Nevertheless, in January 1933 the Commission succeeded in registering a new subsidiary named Palestine Land Charities Association, Ltd., so that it could enjoy tax breaks on at least some of the large donations that it received. All directors of the Commission were registered as directors of the new company. In practice, the subsidiary did very little and was disbanded in 1943.[footnoteRef:49] [48:  In regard to these requests, see reference in Chapter 1, note 25.]  [49:  AKA [] G1/5, file with summaries of board meetings in 1937–1943.] 

In the first three years of Solomon’s chairmanship and up to the end of September 1933, the Commission’s donation income remained rather steady at around £13,000 per year on average. The main reason for the lack of growth had to do with the effects of the global economic crisis that began in 1929, from which British Jewry was not exempt. A dramatic upturn of donations had to wait for the Nazis’ accession to power in Germany and the restrictive policies they imposed on the Jews. Thus, in April 1933, the Jewish Agency issued an urgent fundraising appeal in the Diaspora for the resettlement of German Jews in Eretz Israel. That month, ten community leaders, Zionist and non-Zionist,[footnoteRef:50] set aside their ideological disagreements and established the Central British Fund for German Jewry as a separate nonpartisan enterprise that accepted donations in support of German-Jewish refugees and for steering them to settlement in Eretz Israel.[footnoteRef:51] At the 18th Zionist Congress, held in August 1933, the establishment of the Central Bureau for the Settlement of German Jews in Palestine, funded de facto by the Central British Fund for German Jewry, was announced.[footnoteRef:52] The directors of the Central British Fund reached an agreement with the heads of the Keren Hayesod and JNF commissions in Britain to use the commissions’ organisational infrastructures for refugee fundraising. The two entities were asked to lower their profiles and downscale their activities in order to give the central funds extra visibility and attract significant amounts of refugee aid. To compensate the commissions, the Central Fund promised to allocate some of the proceeds to each commission for its own goals, provided the donations actually be earmarked for refugee aid. As troubling indications in Germany gathered strength, the American Jewish Joint Distribution Committee, the United Jewish Appeal, and the Central British Fund merged their fundraising forces and established the Council for German Jewry in order to help German Jews escape the fate that awaited them. From the time the Council was formed, all sums that it forwarded to the Commission were earmarked solely for the purchase of land in Palestine for the resettlement of German-Jewish refugees. [50:  They included Robert Waley Cohen, Simon Marks, Otto Schiff, Henry Mond, d’Avigdor Goldschmidt, Lionel and Anthony de Rothschild, and others.]  [51:  On the activity of relief funds for German Jews and refugees from Nazi-occupied lands reached Britain, see Gottlieb, 1988.]  [52:  Elitzur, Ha-hon ha-leumi u-vinyan ha-arets, p. 204.] 

The funds that the JNF Commission received from the Central British Fund boosted the Commission’s income considerably in subsequent years. In 1934, its income was three times greater than in the previous year, at £44,000. It marked a dramatic turnaround in the Commission’s activity because, for the first time, it was the British Commission that delivered to the JNF the largest donation sum of all Diaspora countries that year. By comparison, the JNF commission in the United States brought in only £36,000 and the commission in Palestine sent £30,700.[footnoteRef:53] The Central British Commission accounted for one-fourth of total donation proceeds; another fourth came from bazaars, parties, and other social events. One event that generated considerable sums was a boxing tournament at the Albert Hall, sponsored by Henry Mond (the 2nd Baron Melchett) and other community dignitaries, for which 2,000 tickets were sold. The Jewish Sportsmen’s Committee donated all of its income from the tournament to the Commission. Additional donations came in from wills. Foremost among them were sums from the Rosenblum will and donations for the establishment of Kefar Ussishkin in appreciation of Ussishkin’s donation and in honour of his seventieth birthday. Despite the difficulty in raising funds in Britain for this project,[footnoteRef:54] the Irgun Menahem organisation in Rehovot managed to establish a new moshav ‘ovdim (workers’ cooperative settlement) near Gedera in 1936. However, the group had to abandon it soon afterwards due to Arab depredations, arson against its barracks, and damage to its agricultural property. [53:  Ha’olam, 24 December 1934.]  [54:  CZA, KKL6/33, report of board meeting on 9 January 1934.] 

After subtracting local expenses and leaving a small reserve in the bank account, the Commission forwarded all funds collected to the JNF administration in Jerusalem, which used them to buy land and pursue various projects that it had initiated. In 1934, these funds were invested mainly in draining swampland at Haifa Bay (Zebulun Valley) and helping to buy land at Ben Shemen. Attorney Ettinger left Britain in March 1934 and was named manager of the Bayside Land (Gav-Yam) Corporation, which operated at Haifa Bay,[footnoteRef:55] placing the Wills and Legacies Department in Schen’s hands. [55:  The corporation was established as a subsidiary of the American-Jewish Palestine Economic Corporation in order to develop infrastructure for industry in Palestine on 500 hectares in Zebulun Valley, which the Haifa Bay Development Company, which had run into financial difficulties, had purchased.] 

The Commission had another successful year in 1935. Most of its donation proceeds were transferred to the flagship project of planting a forest in the middle of the Jewish-settled area in the Jezreel Valley, near Nahalal. The idea was to mark the silver anniversary of the reign of King George V, during which Balfour had made his Declaration. The forest was meant to cover 600 hectares, making it the largest of all the JNF forests. After His Majesty endorsed the project and the Colonial Office approved it as well, a committee for the forest was set up under the 2nd Baron Melchett along with other distinguished patrons to raise £100,000 in donations in order to plant a million cypress and pine trees. The whole elite of British Jewry made substantial donations to this project. A committee for the project was also set up in Palestine with the High Commissioner, Sir Arthur Wauchope, as its honourary president, and Ussishkin, Tel Aviv Mayor Meir Dizengoff, and other dignitaries as members, along with an impressive delegation of British immigrants in Palestine.
In July 1935, the main fundraising event for the flagship project was held at Guild Hall with Chaim Weizmann as the keynote speaker. Tickets went for £30 each, a steep price that was greeted with much disgruntlement. The king was so moved by the gesture that he had a cypress tree uprooted from his garden at Windsor Palace and sent to Palestine for replanting in the forest. That December, the forest was dedicated in a grand ceremony with Solomon, the chair of the committee; the heads of the Yishuv; and senior Mandatory officials in attendance. In the course of the ceremony, which was broadcast on the BBC and listened to by the king himself, Ussishkin lauded the contribution of British Jewry. The esteemed guests were given the honour of planting trees in the configuration of an eight-branched menorah with the royal cypress in the middle.[footnoteRef:56] Subsequently, Lady Fitzgerald told Schen that during the official royal reception for the jubilee festivities at Buckingham Palace, His Majesty took her aside and confided: ‘I have received from all over the Empire valuable gifts, but the gift which I cherished the most is from the Jewish people of England—a forest in Palestine’.[footnoteRef:57] [56:  Haboker, 20 December 1935.]  [57:  Schen memoirs, p. 83.] 

Encouraged by its organisational stability and the increase in donations, the Commission, in its new premises at 65 Southampton Row (next to the Zionist Executive building) decided in late 1935 to establish an Education Department. The new unit’s intended mandate comprised information activity and promotion of JNF goals fund among teachers and pupils in some 110 Jewish education institutions in Britain. Its appointees were driven by the need to strengthen the bond between children and Eretz Israel, promote the study of Hebrew among them as a living language, and give them confidence in Eretz Israel as the Jews’ patrimony. The department was set up with financial assistance from the administration in Jerusalem, which it limited to half a year in the belief that the department should then have to make its own way.[footnoteRef:58] The department focused mainly on organizing events for Tu Bishvat, Herzl Day, Bialik Day, Lag Ba’Omer, and the like. Then, alongside the insurance, events, and education departments, the Commission launched an information and propaganda department that drew up a systematic list of some fifty speakers whom the Commission could send on informational tours around Britain. [58:  CZA, KKL6/34, report of board meeting on 6 November 1935.] 

To regulate the Commission’s activity, it was also necessary to elicit recommendations on the formalisation of working procedures, working processes, and reporting within the Commission’s administration, vis-à-vis the branches, and in relations with the JNF administration in Jerusalem. A special subcommittee that was appointed to write these procedures presented its recommendations in October 1935 and they were accepted in full. The main ones were:
1. Sums exceeding £250 would be forwarded to the administration in Jerusalem, and this, only with the signatures of two authorised signatories at the Commission.
2. All correspondence with the Head Office and any request for funds sent personally or directly to any member of the Commission would be presented to the Commission board.
3. In any appeal by the JNF administration for the funding of special projects, the administration must specify in advance the time frame of the project and the maximum sum needed.
4. Requests for funds by the JNF administration shall not be honoured unless presented to the Commission officially.
5. All payments forwarded to the Commission shall be given against receipts.[footnoteRef:59] [59:  CZA, KKL6/34, the Commission’s recommendations, 18 October 1935.] 

The Great Arab Revolt (the 1936 disturbances), aimed against British policy and accompanied by violence against the Jews, brought another royal commission of inquiry to Palestine in August 1936. About a year later, the Peel Commission published its recommendation to partition the country into two states and a British Mandatory zone. Shortly afterward, Schen and Selig Brodetsky, the political director of the Zionist Executive office in London and a board member of the JNF Commission, called an urgent board meeting, in the course of which they emphasised the need to buy more and more land as quickly as possible, it being obvious to everyone that all acreage offered for sale in Palestine should be snapped up because land possession would determine the borders of the Jewish state under any future partition scheme.[footnoteRef:60] The two officials presented those in attendance with a new mechanism that the Main Office had devised to obtain the capital immediately—the sale of JNF bonds to the public at large. Aron Wright, a board member of the Commission, proposed that the public be advised at once that no report from a royal commission of inquiry would impair the JNF Commission’s work.[footnoteRef:61] The recommendations of the Peel Commission elicited responses in both directions. The JNF board continued the policy that it had been practicing and did its best to disregard the political background noise and buy more land wherever possible in terms of the new restrictions and its available budget. [60:  Eric Engel Tuten, Between Capital and Land: The Jewish National Fund’s Finances and Land-Purchase Priorities in Palestine, 1939-1945, pp. 45–46.]  [61:  Hakibbutz Ha’artzi Archive, G1/6, exceptional board meeting, 12 July 1937.] 

As war clouds gathered over the skies of Europe, gale winds precipitated by Arab terrorism continued to batter the Yishuv. Amid the grinding tension, private investments in Palestine, including land purchases and land speculation by private interests, came to a nearly total halt. For the JNF, the new state of affairs created golden opportunities to buy large swaths of land during the ‘tempestuous time’ that lasted, in effect, until 1945.[footnoteRef:62] [62: As Yosef Weitz, head of the JNF Land and Afforestation Department, defined it in his book Hitnahalutenu bi-tequfat ha-sa’ar [Our comportment in the tempestuous time]. ] 

The Commission’s fourteenth annual assembly, held in October 1937, was attended by 120 delegates from dozens of Commission branches across Britain and Ireland. During the event, in which the Commission elected Prof. Samson Wright as its new chair, a decrease in revenues was reported: from a record £61,700 in 1936 to £51,491 in the reporting year. In per-capita donations, however, British Jewry’s performance was the second-best among Diaspora communities.
Figure 1. Leading communities in donations to JNF, per-capita average, 1918–1937
[מקרא מימין לשמאל]
 European Jewry (excl. Britain)	U.S. Jewry	British Jewry	S. African Jewry
* Expressed in Palestine pounds. Source: Elitzur
In the course of the gathering, a new JNF initiative was unveiled: recording youngsters’ names in a ‘children’s book’, including a picture of the child at a cost of £2.2 (paid in instalments). Even though the JNF wished to promote this initiative, the Commission decided that it was not the time to launch new initiatives, especially with the King George Forest and the appeals for German Jewry demanding full attention.[footnoteRef:63] [63:  CZA, KKL6/35, board meeting, 25 May 1936.] 

Despite all the new proposals, the Blue Box remained the Commission’s iconic informational tool and the most accurate indicator of the JNF’s ability to win the community’s heart. Management of the array of boxes became the main topic of board discussions at the annual conferences. In the 1927–1937 decade, however, the boxes did not seem to have the expected and hoped-for impact, generating revenues of around £8,000 on annual average. The aspiration of placing a Blue Box in every home also fell short. In London, only 16 percent of Jewish households had them. Outside the capital and in the provinces, matters were different. The smaller the community: the more boxes there were. In provinces that had fewer than 1,000 Jewish families, Blue Boxes appeared in some 80 percent of homes.[footnoteRef:64] Similarly, donations via wills and legacies gained little traction in the community; in 1937 only nineteen wills of British Jews were recorded in favour of the JNF.[footnoteRef:65] [64:  Hakibbutz Ha’artzi Archive, report of the Fourteenth Annual Conference, 24 October 1937.]  [65:  National Library, PV6048, Balance Sheet for 5697 [1936/37], 23 October 1937, p. 26.] 

Table 1. Distribution of Blue Boxes in British cities, 1937
	City
	Total families in community
	No. of Blue Boxes
	Pct.

	London
	58,500
	9,401
	16%

	Manchester
	9,370
	1,729
	18%

	Leeds
	6,250
	2,807
	45%

	Glasgow
	3,750
	1,415
	38%

	Liverpool
	1,750
	1,000
	57%

	Birmingham
	1,500
	466
	31%

	Dublin
	870
	750
	86%

	Newcastle
	620
	482
	78%

	Brighton and Hove
	390
	112
	29%

	Belfast
	370
	310
	84%


Source: Report of the Fourteenth Annual Conference, 24 October 1937

To expedite the JNF’s cash intake, board member Abraham Granovsky championed an initiative to merge national and private capital for the joint purchase of land.[footnoteRef:66] Granovsky asked Schen to collaborate in putting together the Joint Land Purchase Scheme, in which the JNF would approach private investors and propose a joint investment in land purchase in return for the investor’s future entitlement to a parcel or the recovery of his or her investment plus interest—in other words, an investment with optional conversion into a loan to the JNF. Since the JNF bylaws forbade the Fund to sell land that it owned, the directors had to work creatively to find alternative ways of broadening the ambit of JNF operations without infringing on the organisation’s basic principles. The solution was found in establishing two subsidiaries—Meheiman and Himanuta—by means of which JNF properties were bought and sold.[footnoteRef:67] [66:  Granovsky, New Ways of Funding the Zionist Project, pp. 8–9. For correspondence with Schen on the topic, see CZA, KKL, 5-10476, Schen to Granovsky, 24 May 1938, Granovsky to Schen, 17 June 1938, Schen to Granovsky, 24 June 1938.]  [67:  On the goals behind the formation of Meheiman and Himanuta, see Alexander, Yisuda shel hevrat Himamuta [The establishment of Himanuta, Ltd.], pp. 80–97.] 

The palpable threat to the Jewish communities in Europe, which had led relatively stable, and comfortable lives until the Nazis rose to power, also affected British Jewry. Fearing such a menace would reach this community’s doors, the furrier and chair of the Glasgow commission, Fred Nettler, reached out to Schen for the discussion of a program based on creating cooperation between private capital in Britain and the JNF. The proposal was welcomed and Nettler was invited to present it to the directors of the Commission and to Ussishkin and Granovsky, who were visiting London at the time. He told them that given the unrest in Europe, both Zionists and non-Zionists had approached him in order to secure a piece of land in Eretz Israel for themselves should they need it. In the initial scheme that Nettler formulated in response, the JNF would allow the donor to spread out his or her contribution over several years and receive a portion of the land registered in his or her name. In the meantime, investors could earn interest while retaining the option of actually going to the land in the future. Granovsky took the occasion to promise in the name of the JNF that the plan would indeed go into effect and asked Schen to work with Nettler on the details of the gambit, known at this stage as the Nettler Scheme.[footnoteRef:68] [68:  Hakibbutz Ha’artzi Archive, G1/7, board meeting, 27 November 1938; CZA, KKL6/39, board meeting, 14 February 1939.] 

In November 1938, when the existential menace to German Jewry became a concrete threat, the heads of the action committees of Zionist organisations in Anglophone countries convened in an emergency meeting attended by Ussishkin as well. They requested recommendations as to special methods of action that would allow them to continue operating in their communities even in a state of war and to continue buying land. One of the resolutions was to launch a special campaign that would appeal mainly to women. The directors of the Commission turned to Lady Fitzgerald and asked her to head a ‘jewel fund’, for which a committee of twelve women would urge women in the community to donate gold and silver jewelry and valuables. The initiative succeeded beyond expectations as thousands of rings, necklaces, bracelets, and silver and gold artifacts streamed to Lady Fitzgerald’s home. Some of the items were sent away to be melted down, others were auctioned, and the revenues were used to buy land in Eretz Israel. The process was repeated several times in the course of the war.
In November 1938, it was decided to institutionalise the Commission’s youth committee by making it into a Youth Department that would accommodate the activities of the Education Department. Lili Beirach was placed at its helm and Teddy Kollek (subsequently Mayor of Jerusalem), an emissary of the Hehaluts organisation to Britain at the time, worked with her. The two were entrusted with organisation and propaganda for Zionist activity among the thousands of children and young people from Germany and Austria who had escaped to Britain in the Kindertransport and Youth Aliyah programs. Beirach was the Commission’s representative to the Joint Committee for Youth Affairs that had been established in Britain, encompassing the Federation, Keren Hayesod, and the Commission along lines similar to those of the joint committee of the Zionist Executive, Keren Hayesod, and JNF youth departments. The British joint committee, headed by the writer Sir Leon Simon, played an umbrella role by coordinating the activities of the youth organisations in Britain, helping to finance them, and mobilizing them for effective Zionist action.
Concurrently, negotiations began with the Mizrachi and Torah Va’avoda movements to open a Machleket Hacaharidim (Orthodox Department) at the Commission, in order to co-opt them into fundraising activity in return for financial support of their endeavours. Another association of young people that enlisted in the Commission’s activity was Maccabi, which had some 4,000 members in roughly twenty different locations in Britain. In its initial agreement with the Commission, Maccabi undertook to raise £20,000 in the next four years and earmarked the sum to the expansion of Kibbutz Kefar Hamaccabi in Zebulun Valley.[footnoteRef:69]	Comment by JA: טעות? [69:  CZA, KKL6/39, summary of meeting on 21 March 1939.] 

As they began to formulate the program of JNF cooperation with private investors, the flow of Jewish refugees from Germany who desperately sought to immigrate to countries that were willing to receive them gathered strength. At the JNF, it was realised that urgent and immediate large-scale actions to help the refugees and resettle them in Eretz Israel were needed. Therefore, they re-examined the legal possibilities in view of the new political reality and again attempted to ask the British courts to recognise the JNF as a British charity that would qualify for the attendant tax benefits. The redesignation sought, from a limited-liability corporation to a nonprofit association, was rejected by the British authorities. As an alternative, in November 1938, Schen apprised the heads of the Commission of substantial legal progress in establishing a new fund in Britain that would be recognised as a charity and would help to resettle refugees from Germany in Palestine.[footnoteRef:70] In July 1939, JNF Charitable Trust (hereinafter: ‘the Charity’ or JNF CT) was registered as a charitable fund and set up its office on the ground floor of the offices of the Commission’s board. By decision of the Commission, all sums received by the British Central Fund for German Jews and earmarked to help resettle refugees from Germany in Eretz Israel were recorded with the Charity. On 7 September 1939, the Charity held its first board meeting in Schen’s home. With no president of the Charity having been elected, the treasurer of the Commission served as the new president. [70:  Hakibbutz Ha’artzi Archive, G1/7, board meeting, 27 November 1938.] 

When World War II broke out on 1 September 1939, the evacuation of the British capital in fear of German air raids under Operation Pied Piper began at once. The offices of the Commission were also evacuated and within a month all activity was transferred to Schen’s private home. To cope with the new conditions, the Commission had to reorganise its work: dealing with the donation-receiving funds, making sure donors honoured their pledges, and proposing new initiatives to the administration in Jerusalem, such as planting a forest in honour of soldiers or children evacuated from Germany. Despite the hardships, the Commission remained active during the war. Those who emptied the Blue Boxes stayed on the job, fundraising campaigns for land purchases continued, records in the Golden Book were added, and sales of stamps proceeded. As expected, however, social events were cut back. In an acknowledgment of the wartime exigencies, the JNF Education Department merged with the education department of the Habonim movement in return for a regular monthly grant to the latter organisation, which played an important role in receiving the thousands of adolescents from Germany, Austria, and Czechoslovakia who had found refuge in Britain and hoped to continue providing Zionist agricultural training there.
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